IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC06-1449 Lower Tribunal Case No. 1D05-4086

FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION, THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE INTERNAL IMPROVEMENT TRUST FUND, CITY OF DESTIN and WALTON COUNTY, Petitioners,

vs.

SAVE OUR BEACHES, INC. and STOP THE BEACH RENOURISHMENT, INC.,

Respondents.

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF THE DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE INTERNAL IMPROVEMENT TRUST FUND

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND OF THE CASE

The beaches of Destin and Walton County have experienced such severe erosion that the Department designated this shoreline as "critically eroded"--that is, the beach and dune system have been eroded (either from natural or man-induced causes) to such a point that upland properties and recreational amenities are threatened by further erosion. (Tr. 10.) This particular shoreline was decimated by Hurricanes Erin and Opal (1995), Georges (1998) and Tropical Storm Isidore (2002). (R1: 7.) As a result of the critical condition of these beaches, the City of Destin and Walton County filed a joint application with DEP in 2003 to conduct a beach nourishment project which would involve dredging from an ebb shoal located south of East Pass in the Gulf of Mexico off the shore of eastern Okaloosa County, and the placement of sand along approximately 6.9 miles of shoreline. (R1: 7, R3: 409, Tr. 74-75.) The project would encompass 275 parcels in the County, and 178 in the City. (Tr. 133, 142.)

Like the beaches of Destin and Walton County, other Florida beaches have experienced erosion so severe as to require restoration. (Tr. 20.) Florida's coastline consists of approximately 825 miles of sandy beaches fronting the Gulf of Mexico and the Atlantic Ocean. (Id.) Of that number, approximately 175 miles of beaches have been restored and are currently actively managed through a maintenance nourishment program, pursuant to the provisions of the Beach and

Shore Protection Act (the "Act") challenged in this case. (Id.) There are a total of

forty-five (45) separate beach projects throughout Florida, on both the Gulf and

Atlantic coasts, which have restored these beaches. (Id.)

In 1986, the Legislature, recognizing the "extent of the problem of critically

eroded beaches," enacted section 161.088, Florida Statutes, in which it declared the

public policy regarding beach erosion control and beach nourishment projects:

Because beach erosion is a serious menace to the economy and general welfare of the people of this state and has advanced to emergency proportions, it is hereby declared to be a necessary governmental responsibility to properly manage and protect Florida beaches...from erosion and that the Legislature make provision for beach restoration and nourishment projects....The Legislature declares that such beach restoration and nourishment projects, as approved pursuant to § 161.161, are in the public interest; must be in an area designated as critically eroded shoreline, or benefit an adjacent critically eroded shoreline; must have a clearly identifiable beach management benefit consistent with the state's beach management plan; and must be designed to reduce potential upland damage or mitigate adverse impacts caused by improved, modified, or altered inlets, coastal armoring, or existing upland development.

To further this governmental responsibility to manage and protect Florida beaches,

the Legislature appropriates thirty million dollars annually to DEP to assist local

governments in restoring "critically eroded" beaches. (Tr. 13.) Walton County

has spent millions of county dollars on beach management projects. (Tr. 129.)

The process for obtaining a permit to conduct beach restoration is detailed, requiring engineering analyses, environmental assessments, technical sand search investigations, and feasibility studies, generally requiring a year or more to complete. (Tr. 14, 18.) On July 30, 2003, at the culmination of this process, Walton County and the City of Destin filed their permit application. (R1:7)

Because the proposed activities will be located on sovereign submerged lands, a beach nourishment permit--issued pursuant to the Act--requires both regulatory authorization from the Department, and proprietary authorization from the Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund. (R1: 7; Tr. 41.) Beach restoration consists primarily of placing high-quality sand from a "borrow" source on the beach, thereby increasing its width, or berm. (R:1 6-14; R3: 410, Tr. 75.) This restoration project will widen the beach berm to 210 feet, with an elevation of +8 feet, North American Vertical Datum, ("NAVD"). The project will also include dune restoration, resulting in a crest elevation of +12 feet, NAVD. (R1: 7.) The primary purpose of this restoration is protection of threatened upland residences, accomplished by moving the waterline further away from them. (Tr. 14.) In fact, the project design includes "sacrificial sand," which--during its "life expectancy" of six to eight years--is anticipated to erode back to the protective berm. (Tr. 19.) Once this sand erodes, the berm's protective value against storms will be lost unless maintenance nourishment is provided. (Tr. 19-20.)

Even though the upland properties adjacent to any beach nourishment project are thus greatly, and most directly, benefited by beach nourishment (both by the storm protection and aesthetic enhancement aspects of the project), there are

also significant public benefits.¹ Billions of dollars of taxable properties are located landward of the beach and dune system, providing millions of dollars in property tax revenue to local communities (Tr. 11.) Moreover, Florida's coastal beach areas--which "represent one of the most valuable natural resources of the state," § 161.053(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (2004)--both form the "first line of defense for the mainland against both winter storms and hurricanes," § 161.053(2), Fla. Stat. (2004), and are the cornerstone of the state's tourism industry. (Tr. 11.)

On beaches that have not been restored, the mean high water line ("MHWL") along the shores of land immediately bordering on navigable water is the boundary line between private ownership of upland property and the sovereign lands associated with navigable water. See § 177.28(1), Fla. Stat. (2004). "Mean high water" means the average height of the high waters over a 19-year period. See § 177.27(14), Fla. Stat. (2004). "MHWL" means the intersection of the tidal plane of mean high water with the shore. See § 177.27(15), Fla. Stat. (2004).

When beaches are restored, the Board is required to establish an "Erosion Control Line" ("ECL"). <u>See</u> § 161.141, Fla. Stat. (2004). Prior to initiating any beach nourishment project--including this one--a survey of all or part of the shoreline must be conducted to establish the area of beach to be protected by the project and to locate the MHWL, to determine placement of the ECL.

¹ Here, the Legislature has set forth the important public policies furthered by the Act, <u>see</u> § 161.088, Fla. Stat. (2004), which Respondent does not dispute.

§ 161.161(3), Fla. Stat. (2004); (see also Tr. 26). The ECL then represents the landward extent of the state's claims as sovereign title-holder of the submerged bottoms and shores of the Gulf of Mexico. <u>Id</u>. In this case, the City and the County had the MHWL surveyed in the proposed project area prior to commencing the beach nourishment project. The MHWL as of the survey date was used to establish, and coincides with, the ECL for the project. (R3: 414.)

The ECL also represents the seaward extent of claims of upland owners whose properties border the MHWL. <u>See § 161.191</u>, Fla. Stat. (2004). Thus, these owners will no longer suffer loss of property as a result of erosion. <u>Id.</u> If the ECL cannot be located on the MHWL, and must include some upland property-resulting in a "taking" of such property upon setting of the ECL--the Act provides authorization for the exercise of eminent domain. <u>See § 161.141</u>, Fla. Stat. (2004). If the beach ever erodes landward of the ECL, and the agency responsible for beach management fails to restore the area, the Act also provides a mechanism to vacate the earlier survey, and void the ECL. <u>See § 161.211(3)</u>, Fla. Stat. (2004).

In this case, upon completion of the application process, DEP issued a Consolidated Notice of Intent to Issue a Joint Coastal Permit and Authorization to Use Sovereign Submerged Lands (the "Joint Permit"), authorizing restoration of 6.9 miles of critically eroded beaches in Destin and Walton County. (R1: 6-7.) The Joint Permit includes two separate permits and an authorization. (R3: 422.)

The two permits are a coastal construction permit (governed by Chapter 161,

Florida Statutes, and Chapter 62B-41, Florida Administrative Code) and a wetland

environmental resource permit (governed by Chapter 373, Florida Statutes, and

Chapter 62-312, Florida Administrative Code). (R3: 422.) The Joint Permit also

includes a proprietary authorization to use sovereign submerged lands, which is

governed by Chapter 253, Florida Statutes, and Chapter 18-21, Florida

Administrative Code (Id.) Section 253.77, Florida Statutes, provides:

A person may not commence any excavation, construction or other activity involving the use of sovereign or other lands of the state, the title to which is vested in the board of trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund under this chapter, until the person has received the required lease, license, easement, or other form of consent authorizing the proposed use.

Rule 18-21.004(3), Florida Administrative Code ("Riparian Rights"), promulgated

under section 253.03(7), Florida Statutes, provides, in pertinent part:

(a) None of the provisions of this rule shall be implemented in a manner that would unreasonably infringe upon the traditional, common law riparian rights, as defined in Section 253.141, F.S., of upland property owners adjacent to sovereignty submerged lands.

(b) Satisfactory evidence of sufficient upland interest is required for activities on sovereignty submerged lands riparian to uplands, unless otherwise specified in this chapter. Public utilities and state and other governmental agencies proposing activities such as utility lines, roads or bridges must obtain satisfactory evidence of sufficient upland interest prior to beginning construction, but need not provide such evidence as part of any required application. Satisfactory evidence of sufficient upland interest is not required for activities on sovereignty submerged lands that are not riparian to uplands, or when a governmental entity conducts restoration and enhancement activities, provided that such activities do not unreasonably infringe on riparian rights.

Upon DEP's issuance of the Joint Permit, Save Our Beaches, Inc., ("SOB") and Stop the Beach Renourishment, Inc. ("STBR") timely filed petitions for administrative hearing, challenging DEP's issuance of the Joint Permit, and requesting an administrative hearing. (R1: 16.) According to the allegations of the petition, SOB and STBR are both not-for-profit organizations incorporated in Florida. (Tr. 149-50, R3: 415.) Their purpose, among others, is to seek redress for past, present and future unauthorized or inappropriate restoration activities. (Id.) STBR has six members, all alleged to be owners of beachfront property in the area of the project. (R3: 415.) SOB has about 150 members, alleged to own approximately 112 properties in Destin, 62 of which are claimed to be beachfront. (Id.) No deeds or other documentation regarding the associations' members' ownership of property were proffered, nor any evidence that SOB or STBR themselves own property, or would otherwise be affected by the project. (Id.)

The initial petition asserted that there were thirty-eight disputed issues of fact, including whether the location of the MHWL had been properly identified. (R1: 19-23) On August 30, 2004, STBR filed a second petition, in which it challenged (inter alia) both the location of the ECL and whether the shoreline where the ECL would be established was "critically eroded." (R1: 84-85.) Shortly thereafter, both SOB and STBR--recognizing that shoreline impacts of hurricanes had further damaged project areas during 2004--sought and were granted leave to

amend the petitions to abandon challenges to "technical aspects" of the Joint Permit and location of the (pre-hurricane set) ECL. (R1: 116.)

In their First Amended Petition, SOB and STBR disputed only whether water quality standards would be met; whether the project would deny upland owners' use and enjoyment of their properties; whether the project would result in a "taking;" and whether the local sponsors had obtained requisite property rights to implement the project. (R1: 123-24) Both associations asserted that the project would "significantly impair" their members' riparian rights--particularly, the right to accretion--and that, therefore, the city and county were required, under rule 18-21.004(3) of the Florida Administrative Code, to provide satisfactory evidence of sufficient upland interest. (R3: 424-5, R2: 332.) The constitutional "taking" issue was dismissed prior to hearing, for later resolution by the appropriate court. (R1: 143; R3: 417.) Accordingly, DEP did not address this issue, as not before it.

At the formal administrative hearing, the associations called as witnesses only Slade Lindsey and Linda Cherry, as the representative of STBR and SOB, respectively. (Tr. 147, 165, 190.) While the witnesses testified that the project would impact the use and enjoyment of their properties "by having their riparian rights adversely impacted and taken away," no further evidence was presented to address whether these claimed losses would result in an "unreasonable infringement" of riparian rights. (Tr. 151-52, 155, 168.) The witnesses each

submitted affidavits from other members, but these affidavits, all similar, addressed only impacts which might arise from violations of the water quality standard for turbidity. (Record Exhibits 3, 6, 7.) No evidence was presented regarding the nature of the property interests held by these members, when their properties were acquired, or how the project would impact their property interests.

In addition, no record evidence was presented to support a claim that the project would deprive association members of any uses of their beachfront property. Rather, the two property owners who did testify indicated that they would continue to use and enjoy their beachfront property. (See generally testimony of Slade Lindsey, Tr. 148-65; testimony of Linda Cherry, Tr. 166-89.) Indeed, Mr. Slade's complaint was simply that the project would add "50 to 80 feet" of "dry sandy beach" between his property line and the water. (Tr. 163-64.) Ms. Cherry testified that she wades in the water at the beach; that she is at her property "once every two or three weeks;" and that she would probably be there "the whole time" the project is "being done." (Tr. 180-81.) The associations also presented no evidence to show that accretion has ever occurred, or might in future occur, at the subject properties. Rather, the record establishes the opposite--that the project area is critically eroded and "significantly eroding." (Tr. 23; 106-7.)

Lastly, STBR asserted that its members' "right" to have their properties "touch the water" would be infringed by the project. (Tr. 152.) However, STBR

presented no evidence to establish that its members' properties presently maintained continual contact with the water. Rather, Slade Lindsey testified that his own property extended to the MHWL (Tr. 148); thus, by definition, indicating that it does <u>not</u> maintain constant contact with the water. In contrast, the testimony of Martin Seeling reflects that the concept of "touching the water" is commonly associated with freshwater (non-tidal) lakes or rivers, where water levels are likely to remain the same. (Tr. 105.) His unrefuted testimony reflects that riparian properties do not always "touch" the water. (Tr. 105.)

Thereafter, upon consideration of exceptions to the Recommended Order, DEP issued its Final Order, supporting permit issuance. (R3: 393-435.) With respect to any "unreasonable infringement" of riparian rights, DEP stated:

The ALJ specifically found that there would be no infringement of riparian rights resulting from the draft permit, but that even if any infringement did result from the issuance of the permit, such infringement was 'not unreasonable'. [SOB and STBR] have failed to show that this critical finding of the ALJ is flawed or not based on competent substantial evidence.

(R3: 398.) DEP concluded by adopting the Recommended Order in its entirety. (R3: 402.) Among the legal determinations thus adopted was the ALJ's conclusion that SOB lacked administrative standing, since it has presented no evidence that it owned property in the project area, or that more than one of its members owned such property, or would be affected by the project if it reduced water quality. DEP questioned, but did determine, whether STBR had standing. (R3: 419-20.) DEP also found that reasonable assurance had been given that no water quality violations would occur, and that the application fell squarely within the exception in rule 18-21.004(3)(b), obviating the need for evidence of upland interest where project activities "do not unreasonably infringe on riparian rights." (R3: 425)

SOB and STBR timely appealed from the Final Order. (R3: 436-48.) Upon review, the First District reversed, holding that DEP's order effected a "taking" of the unconsenting upland owners' "constitutionally protected riparian rights" to "receive accretions and relictions to the property, and...[to] have the property's contact with the water remain intact." Save Our Beaches, Inc. v. Dep't of Envtl. Prot., 31 Fla. L. Weekly D1173, --- So. 2d ---, 2006 WL 1112700, *8 (Fla. 1st DCA Apr 28, 2006). In so doing, the First District concluded that the eminent domain case of Belvedere Dev. Corp. v. Dep't. of Transp., 476 So. 2d 649 (Fla. 1985) (addressing DOT's improper attempt to condemn upland property "in fee simple absolute without an award for severance damages" by purporting to reserve wholly-severed riparian rights to the owners) controlled. 2006 WL 1112700 at *10 ("Belvedere controls by explicitly holding that the riparian rights cannot be constitutionally reserved to the landowners as described in Section 161.201.").

Based on its interpretation and application of <u>Belvedere</u>, the First District further determined that, "[b]ecause [the] riparian rights [of unconsenting upland owners represented by STBR] were unconstitutionally taken without an eminent

domain proceeding as required by section 161.141, those rights have been <u>infringed</u> upon." <u>Id.</u> at *8 (emphasis added). It remanded the case, directing DEP --not the permit applicants--to provide satisfactory evidence of sufficient upland interest pursuant to administrative rule 18-21.004(3)(b). <u>Id.</u> at *11.

Thereafter, DEP, Walton County, and the City filed timely motions for rehearing, rehearing en banc and certification of questions. In its motion (among other points), DEP asserted that it had <u>never</u> conceded, as the First District's opinion reflected, <u>id.</u> at *10, that "the MHWL would move seaward as a result of the beach nourishment project, and ordinarily this would result in the upland landowners gaining property by accretion."² DEP noted the Court's clear misapprehension both by reference to DEP's brief (in which it had argued vigorously that accretion had neither occurred, nor was even remotely likely to occur, at the subject properties) and to the relevant exchange which had occurred on oral argument.³ DEP further observed that the court had overlooked that application of a constitutional "takings" analysis to the record facts would compel a result contrary to the court's determination; and that the court, in reversing the

² DEP also asserted that such concession, even if made, "cannot affect the legal status of the sovereignty lands." <u>Martin v. Busch</u>, 112 So. 274, 287 (Fla. 1927).

³ As reflected in this exchange, counsel for DEP was asked, at oral argument, if the MHWL would move seaward, but was <u>not</u> asked what effect that would have:

Q: Is there any dispute that when the beach restoration project takes place that the MHWL will move seaward?

A: No, no dispute.

order, had relied on a legal basis (that the Act effected an "unreasonable

infringement" of riparian rights) which SOB and STBR had not argued on appeal.

DEP also urged the exceptional importance of this case.

The District Court denied the motions for rehearing and rehearing en banc,

but certified the following question as one of great public importance:

Has [the Act] been unconstitutionally applied so as to deprive the members of [STBR] of their riparian rights without just compensation for the property taken, so that the exception provided in Florida Administrative Code Rule 18-21.004(3), exempting satisfactory evidence of sufficient upland interest if the activities do not unreasonably infringe on riparian rights, does not apply?

Save Our Beaches, 2006 WL 1112700 at *11 (Fla. 1st DCA July 3, 2006).

DEP timely requested the Court's discretionary review, which was granted.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

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