IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SC-06-1449

First DCA Case No.: 1D05-4086

FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION and THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE INTERNAL IMPROVEMENT TRUST FUND Petitioners,

VS.

STOP THE BEACH RENOURISHMENT, INC., Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

RESPONDENT'S AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF

DAN R. STENGLE
Florida Bar No. 352411
RICHARD S. BRIGHTMAN
Florida Bar No. 347231
D. KENT SAFRIET
Florida Bar No. 174939
Hopping Green & Sams, P.A.
Post Office Box 6526
Tallahassee, FL 32314
(850) 222-7500

Attorneys for Respondent STOP THE BEACH RENOURISHMENT, INC.

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

⁵⁵ 213 So.2d 23 (Fla. 4th DCA 1968).

⁵⁶ <u>Id.</u> at 25.

⁵⁷ Id.

where the state, in the course of highway construction, fills bottom land in a navigable stream adjacent to riparian property of a private citizen **and claims title to the fill**, does a taking occur with respect to the riparian rights of the upland owner.⁵⁸

The Fourth District held that the "allegations in the complaint are sufficient to show a **complete appropriation** of the plaintiffs' riparian rights and thus a taking without just compensation." In the instant case, like <u>Kendry</u>, DEP is authorizing the filling of submerged lands⁶⁰ adjacent to the private riparian uplands and is claiming title to those lands. Because DEP has claimed ownership to the new lands and will physically occupy the interface between privately owned uplands and the MHWL with sand (creating new dry land), it has completely appropriated STBR's members' riparian rights. Such a complete appropriation is a

⁵⁸ <u>Id.</u> (Emphasis added).

⁵⁹ <u>Id.</u> at 28. (Emphasis added).

⁶⁰ While submerged, STBR is not admitting that the lands to be filled for this project are owned by the State in its sovereign capacity. <u>Infra</u>, STBR discusses the legal effect of the doctrine of avulsion – raised by DEP – relating to the ownership of the submerged lands proposed for filling in this project.

DEP previously represented to the District Court that if the project was ultimately found unconstitutional "all members of the Appellants' organizations who actually own property in this area, would have a new beach free of any statutory constraints." See Response to Motion for Stay, ¶ 33 (filed Oct. 13, 2005) (see Exhibit 4 in Appendix). DEP is judicially estopped from now maintaining that it owns the nourished beach. Chase & Co. v. Little, 156 So. 609 (Fla. 1934); McCurdy v. Collis, 508 So.2d 380 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987).

physical taking that must be accomplished, if at all, through eminent domain proceedings.

Even the cases quoted by the Petitioners command a finding that compensation is due. As noted by Petitioners, the Court in <u>Tahoe-Sierra Pres.</u>

<u>Council v. Tahoe Reg'l Planning Agency</u>, 62 stated:

When the government **physically takes possession of an interest in property for some public purpose**, it has a categorical duty to compensate the former owner, (citation omitted) regardless of whether the interest that is taken constitutes an entire parcel or merely a part thereof.

In this case, DEP is physically taking possession of the interface between the upland and the navigable water and with that it will physically possess the riparian rights once held by STBR's members. Thus, even under <u>Tahoe-Sierra</u>, Petitioners have a "categorical duty to compensate the former owner."

E. As Applied in this Case, the Act Is Unconstitutional Because it Severs Riparian Rights from Riparian Uplands

The District Court properly held below that <u>Belvedere</u>⁶³ is controlling because "Florida's law is clear that riparian rights cannot be severed from riparian uplands absent an agreement with the landowner, not even by eminent domain." Petitioners'

22

⁶² 535 U.S. 302 (2002) (Emphasis added).

^{63 476} So.2d 649 (Fla. 1985).

⁶⁴ Save Our Beaches, 31 Fla. L. Weekly at D1177.

attempt to brush off this crucial holding, summarily stating it does not apply (as they must because ignoring the entire severance issue is necessary to their inapposite "regulatory takings" argument).

In <u>Belvedere</u>, this Court addressed the following certified question: "DOES FLORIDA LAW PERMIT RIPARIAN (OR LITTORAL) RIGHTS TO BE SEPARATED FROM RIPARIAN LANDS?" This Court held that riparian rights cannot be severed from riparian uplands absent an agreement with the riparian owner.⁶⁵

In <u>Belvedere</u>, the DOT sought through eminent domain proceedings to acquire a parcel of riparian property in fee simple absolute from Belvedere.⁶⁶ DOT did not condemn the riparian rights to the property, however, expressly "reserving" those riparian rights to Belvedere.⁶⁷ Belvedere challenged the taking, alleging that DOT

Reserving unto the Defendant the rights to use and enjoy the riparian rights of and pertaining to said lands, including the rights to bulkhead and fill, said lands as provided by law, which are not in conflict with the interests of the Florida Department of Transportation in the construction and maintenance of said public highway.

Belvedere, 476 So.2d at 650.

⁶⁵ Belvedere, 476 So.2d at 653.

^{66 &}lt;u>Id.</u> at 650.

⁶⁷ The reservation language provides:

was taking only a portion of its lands and was required to take all of it or pay severance damages.⁶⁸

On appeal, the district court upheld the reservation of riparian rights but certified the question of their severability to this Court, which quashed the district court decision, agreeing with Belvedere that the attempted reservation of riparian rights is ineffective because "riparian rights are appurtenant to and inseparable from the riparian land."

In deciding against DOT's position, the Supreme Court rejected a general rule that riparian rights are severable recognizing the inherent and absurd results thus achieved, which were eloquently stated by Judge Hersey in the case below:

[Riparian] rights basically include (1) general use of the water adjacent to the property, (2) to wharf out to navigability, (3) to have access to navigable waters and (4) the right to accretions.

How could it seriously be contended that appellants in this case retain any of those rights despite the language in the Order of Taking (the functional equivalent of a deed)? They have no easement or other retained rights to enter upon appellee's land. If a dock is built by appellants it will have to be free-standing, without contact with appellee's land. And how are they to "use" the water, say for swimming, when they have no access to it other than by boat? And consider the horrendous problem of accretions!

To speak of riparian or littoral rights unconnected with ownership of the shore is to speak a *non sequitur*. ⁷⁰

⁶⁹ Belvedere Dev. Corp. v. Department of Transp., 413 So.2d 847 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982).

⁶⁸ <u>Id.</u> at 650.

⁷⁰ Belvedere, 413 So.2d at 851 (Hersey, J., concurring).

In light of these concerns, this Court expressly held that "[r]iparian rights cannot be severed by condemnation proceedings without the consent of the upland owner," noting that the "condemnation context is distinguishable from the situation where two parties to a real estate transaction might choose to sever the riparian rights from the riparian lands and also provide those necessary additional rights which would enable the riparian right holder to actually benefit from those rights – <u>i.e.</u>, an easement or right to enter the riparian lands." Therefore, the Court concluded that riparian rights can only be severed when there is a "bilateral agreement to do so" with the riparian owner. The Court further held that "the act of condemning petitioners' lands without compensating them for their riparian property rights under these facts was an unconstitutional taking."

In the instant case, the Act and Final Order purport to do exactly what this Court found to be unconstitutional in <u>Belvedere</u>: sever riparian rights from riparian lands. The statutory scheme, as applied by the Final Order, attempts to separate

⁷¹ Belvedere, 476 So.2d at 653.

⁷² <u>Id.</u> at 652. A governmental entity would not have to condemn the entire beachfront parcel, as argued by Petitioners and amici, to acquire the riparian rights. Rather, the entity could condemn (through eminent domain as required by the Act) a small strip of uplands along the beach that borders the navigable water, which would then make the governmental entity the riparian owner.

⁷³ <u>Id.</u> at 652-653.

⁷⁴ <u>Id.</u> at 652.

riparian rights from the newly-created State-owned strip of riparian land to be created by the nourishment project. ⁷⁵ Then, the scheme attempts to statutorily "reserve" those riparian rights (except, of course, for the right to accretion) for the owners of the property which is currently riparian, but which is to be rendered no longer riparian because of the nourishment project. <u>Belvedere</u> prohibits such a severance of riparian rights, absent a bilateral agreement which is in keeping with Section 253.141, Fla. Stat., which provides that riparian rights "are <u>inseparable from the riparian land</u>."

Relying on <u>Belvedere</u>'s holding – which is controlling – there is no need for this Court to decide whether the elimination of a riparian right is a physical or regulatory taking. Any action that separates the boundary of STBR's members' properties from the navigable water is a severance of riparian rights and prohibited by <u>Belvedere</u> and Section 253.141(1), Fla. Stat. Consequently, this Court should affirm the District Court's opinion as it properly applied controlling precedent.

of the record below. [R. 1-5]. The survey shows the ECL located at the current Mean High Water Line ("MHWL"). [R. Pet. Ex. 4]; see also Recommended Order [R. 349]. It further depicts the "predicted upland limits of construction," "predicted seaward limits of construction," and the "predicted post-construction mean high water line." <u>Id.</u> The ECL survey clearly shows – as found by the ALJ – that construction (i.e., placement of sand) will occur both landward <u>and seaward</u> of the ECL. <u>Id.</u> Additionally, and most importantly, the ECL survey shows that the predicted post-construction MHWL is significantly (between 60' and 135', and on average approximately 100') seaward of the ECL. <u>Id.</u>

⁷⁶ 253.141, Fla. Stat. (Emphasis added).

F. The Act's "Reservation" of Riparian Rights Is Invalid and Does Not Cure the Unconstitutional Severance of Riparian Rights

The District Court found, consistent with <u>Belvedere</u>, that the Act's attempt in Section 161.201, Fla. Stat., to "reserve" to prior riparian owners statutory rights similar to the common law rights that are eliminated by operation of the Act was invalid.⁷⁷ While Section 161.201, Fla. Stat., may be well intentioned, as applied to STBR's members this Section is ineffective as a cure, and is illegal and unconstitutional for two reasons.

First, Section 161.201, Fla. Stat., is nothing more than an illegal statutory "reservation" of riparian rights similar in legal effect to that in <u>Belvedere</u>. As held by the District Court and explained <u>supra</u>, the "reservation" of riparian rights in <u>Belvedere</u> was ineffective because it illegally severed riparian rights from the riparian uplands. In <u>Belvedere</u>, DOT included a riparian rights "reservation" in the order of taking in an attempt to reserve **all** riparian rights to Belvedere, the former riparian owner. In this case, Section 161.201, Fla. Stat., attempts to reserve all riparian rights (**except the right to accretion**) to the former riparian owner. There is no legal difference between the two "reservations." For the same reasons that the attempted

⁷⁷ <u>See</u> § 161.201, Fla. Stat., which provides in part, "Any upland owner or lessee who by operation of ss. 161.141-161.211 ceases to be a holder of title to the mean highwater line shall, nonetheless, continue to be entitled to all common-law riparian rights except as otherwise provided in s. 161.191(2), including but not limited to rights of ingress, egress, view, boating, bathing, and fishing."

"reservation" in <u>Belvedere</u> was unconstitutional, the attempted "reservation" in Section 161.201, Fla. Stat., as applied by the Final Order, fails.

Secondly, assuming *arguendo* that riparian rights could legally be severed or "reserved," Section 161.201, Fla. Stat., attempts to replace constitutionally protected rights with inferior statutory rights. Unlike constitutionally protected common law riparian property rights, these statutory rights are a mere privilege that can be revoked at any time.⁷⁸ Constitutionally protected rights, on the other hand, cannot be infringed or modified by the legislature, nor can the legislature authorize such an infringement.⁷⁹ No one could credibly argue that any statutory rights guaranteeing free speech for example, are the legal equivalent of constitutional rights to free speech.

For these reasons, the revocable statutory privileges mimicking riparian rights in Section 161.201, Fla. Stat., hardly compare to – and do not replace – the riparian rights granted and afforded by common law and the Florida Constitution.

Consequently, Section 161.201, Fla. Stat., does not cure the constitutional infirmity of the Act, as applied in this case.

⁷⁸ See Packard v. Banton, 264 U.S. 140, 145 (1924).

⁷⁹ See Cawthon v. Town of DeFuniak Springs, 102 So. 250, 251 (Fla. 1924).

G. The Department of Environmental Protection Failed to Construe the Act in a Constitutional Manner

As noted above, in an apparent attempt to avoid an unconstitutional taking Section 161.141, Fla. Stat., includes a savings provision that requires any taking of private property to be accomplished through eminent domain proceedings. ⁸⁰

As a result, DEP had the authority and ability to require the City and County to first institute eminent domain proceedings to lawfully acquire the necessary property rights before issuing the JCP.

In the Final Order, DEP has interpreted this section to apply only when some ownership interest in the upland real property is taken, and does not apply to the "mere" elimination of riparian rights. However, as seen above, riparian rights cannot constitutionally be severed from the riparian property even through eminent domain proceedings. Thus, in light of <u>Belvedere</u> and Section 253.141, Fla. Stat., DEP's interpretation of Section 161.141, Fla. Stat., results in an unconstitutional taking of riparian rights. If, however, Section 161.141, Fla. Stat., is properly construed to

-

⁸⁰ Section 161.141, Fla. Stat., provides in part: "If an authorized beach restoration, beach nourishment, and erosion control project cannot reasonably be accomplished without the taking of private property, the taking must be made by the requesting authority by eminent domain proceedings."

Shore Preservation Association, this does not mean that the entire waterfront parcel must be acquired. Belvedere prohibits the severance of riparian rights from riparian property, it does not prohibit a beach nourishment applicant from acquiring (by eminent domain, if necessary) a narrow strip of riparian property, including the riparian rights attaching thereto.

require the City and County to first become the owner of all requisite property rights – including riparian rights – then the Act could be applied in a constitutional manner. 82

Because the District Court properly held that DEP applied the Act in an unconstitutional manner (i.e., by issuing a JCP in a manner that takes private property) the Opinion below must be affirmed.

II. NEW LEGAL THEORIES RAISED BY THE DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION FOR THE FIRST TIME IN THIS COURT

In addition to rearguing their regulatory takings argument, which was properly rejected below, DEP has developed two new legal theories to justify its expropriation of STBR's members' riparian rights. It is not appropriate, however, for DEP to make new arguments on this appeal as they were not presented to the District Court. This Court should reject DEP's new arguments for this reason alone, in addition to the following substantive reasons.

_

When an interpretation upholding the constitutionality of a statute is available the court must adopt that construction. <u>Department of Ins. v. Southeast Volusia Hosp. Dist.</u>, 438 So.2d 815, 820 (Fla. 1983).

Metropolitan Dade County v. Chase Fed. Housing Corp., 737 So.2d 494, 499 n. 7 (Fla. 1999) (holding that argument raised for the first time in the Supreme Court and was not "raised in the trial court nor addressed by the Third District" was not preserved for appellate review.); Cole Taylor Bank v. Shannon, 772 So.2d 546, 552 n. 2 (Fla. 2000) (refusing to consider new theory of claim for first time on appeal).

A. Common Law Changes to Property Boundaries of Riparian Lands

After failing to argue – or even cite – <u>Martin v. Busch</u>⁸⁴ below, DEP now scolds the District Court for "fail[ing] to recognize that <u>Martin</u> applies to the present facts." DEP was right the first time, as <u>Martin</u> is wholly inapplicable to this case because this case does not involve "a boundary dispute [where] the parties [are] arguing over which survey should be used to identify the ordinary high water mark."

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